# Framing Ethno-World **CONDENSED REPORT** Intercultural Music Exchange, Tradition, and Globalization Roger Mantie and Laura Risk









## Contents

Introduction	4
What is Ethno-World?	4
What does the Ethno-World program purport to do?	4
Commentary	5
An agenda for ethno research	6
Intentionality	6
Impact	8
Evaluation	9
Intercultural exchange	9
Non-formal learning	10
Traditional music	11
Areas for further investigation	13
Camp attendees	13
Artistic leaders	13
Organizers	14
JMI/Ethno-World	15
Beyond Ethno-World	16
References for the full report	17



Authors: Roger Mantie and Laura Risk
University of Toronto Scarborough
With the assistance of Brittany Starkman (Ethno Pedagogy researcher), Nifemi Atanda, and Jason Li
Project Director: Lee Higgins
Design: HBA Graphic Design

### Introduction

This condensed report presents key conclusions from the white paper report, Framing Ethno-World: Intercultural Music Exchange, Tradition, and Globalization, which is intended to serve as a conceptual framework to advance the research agenda for a comprehensive study of the Ethno program overseen by Jeunesses Musicales International (JMI). The complete white paper was generated on the basis of a literature review and critical analysis informed by:

- Publicly-oriented (outward-facing) descriptions of and claims about the JMI Ethno program;
- Issues discussed in extant research literature;
- Deliberations at Ethno Research meetings held at York St. John University (May and December, 2019);
- Issues presented in 7 ethnographic case studies of Ethno camps undertaken in 2019 by members of the Ethno Research team; and
- The experiences of the Ethno Research team who attended Ethno France (February 2020).

#### WHAT IS ETHNO-WORLD?

Starting from modest beginnings as a folk music camp in Sweden (1990), the Ethno program, hereafter referred to as Ethno-World, has evolved over the subsequent 30 years to become a network of international music camps (typically 7–14 days in length) for "youth" (variously defined, but officially listed as 13–30) that take place in an ever-increasing number of countries around the globe. In recent years Ethno-World has broadened its activities to include workshops, trainings, and a concert tour program ("Ethno on the Road"). The Ethno program is described on the JMI website (http://jmi.net/programs/ethno) and the Ethno-World website (https://www.ethno-world.org/info/) as "Jeunesses Musicales International's program for folk, world and traditional music."

# WHAT DOES THE ETHNO-WORLD PROGRAM PURPORT TO DO?

According to the JMI website, the stated mission of the Ethno program is "to revive and keep alive global cultural heritage amongst youth." The wording is slightly different on the Ethno-World website, which reads, "to revive, invigorate and disseminate our global traditional musical heritage." The JMI website describes four aspects of the program:

(1) intercultural learning through peer education in traditional music, (2) sharing music traditions and learning from one another, (3) personal development through exchange, and (4) traditional music, social inclusion and respect. The language on both websites emphasizes such points as the importance of "intercultural dialogue and understanding," "democratic peer-to-peer learning," "building respect and tolerance" (combating "xenophobia, intolerance and racism"), and "preserving cultural heritage."

The Ethno-World website lists the following objectives of the program:

- Preservation/conservation of cultural heritage, keeping traditional music alive amongst young people;
- · Fostering intercultural dialogue;
- Promoting non-formal music education through peer-to-peer and experimental learning;
- Facilitating mobility of young musicians and emerging talent, locally and abroad;
- Creating equal opportunities for musicians of all genders;
- Celebrating young talent in an inclusive environment;
- Enabling young musicians to gain performance experience under professional conditions;
- Building confidence in young people's talents and inspiring them to further their musical and creative development;
- Growing self-respect and respect for others;
- · Creating awareness of oneself, one's own culture and the world; and
- Creating a democratic space for the creation/performance of music without hierarchy.

#### COMMENTARY

By their nature, research agendas are intended to serve particular audiences. What is outlined in this condensed report has been generated on the basis of the conceptual discussion provided in the complete white paper. The full report aspires to contribute to the scholarly community by connecting recent scholarship on cultural globalization, tradition and revival, interculturality, sites of musical exchange, and peer-to-peer learning with ethnographic detail generated by the Ethno Research project.

The complete white paper, *Framing Ethno-World: Intercultural Music Exchange, Tradition, and Globalization*, offers a broad contextualization of the Ethno-World program through a range of scholarly lenses, grouped loosely under the headings "Globalization and Culture" and "Intercultural Music Exchange Encounters." The final section of the full report, summarized below, proposes an agenda for the final two years of the Ethno Research project.

# An Agenda for Ethno Research

With the intent of advancing the agenda of Ethno-World Research, the authors of this condensed white paper propose three fundamental distinctions to help clarify future research: intentionality, impact, and evaluation. By intentionality is meant both espoused intent and enacted practices, as undertaken by JMI/Ethno-World, Ethno camp organizers, Ethno camp artistic leaders, and Ethno camp attendees. By impact is meant the discernible differences that result from Ethno camp activity. These differences are describable on three levels: camp participants (including organizers and artistic leaders), localized and diasporic subcultural and intercultural activity, and cultural production generally. By evaluation is meant assessing the relationship between stated goals and observed effects (i.e., the relationship between action and impact), assessing the merits of the goals and intentions of JMI and Ethno camp organizers, and problematizing the impact Ethno-World has had on camp participants, on subcultural and intercultural activity, and cultural production. Evaluation for the purpose of this research agenda does not mean "program evaluation," a form of assessment generally understood as initiated and undertaken by or in service of an organization with the intent of determining operational efficacy. Put differently, evaluation in the context of this white paper has been undertaken in the service of general scholarship, not in the service of a particular organization (even though the findings and discussion may have implications of interest to various organizations, most notably JMI and Ethno-World).

#### INTENTIONALITY

At their most basic level, Ethno-World camps are music camps for younger adults. Similar to many other music camps, they are short-term events whereby young adults with an interest in music gather, typically for 7–14 days, for the expressed purpose of making music together, concluding with a public performance of some kind. Sometimes, as was the case with the first Ethno Sweden camp and as continues with some Ethno camps today, there is a connection with a local music festival or event. Although enforcement is looser at some camps than others, another important feature of Ethno is the emphasis on youth, with most camps setting an age range of approximately 13–30. What is claimed by JMI/Ethno-World (and by extension, many Ethno organizers) as making Ethno-World camps distinctive is the focus on "non-formal" peer-to-peer learning, intercultural exchange, and "traditional music."

Much is made of non-formal peer-to-peer learning in the official discourse of Ethno-World. It is true that a central feature of Ethno camps is the practice of attendees sharing the "traditional music" of their home country or region with their peers during the introductory phase (usually the first days) of the camp. Camps also typically include informal music and culture sharing amongst attendees while not in formal rehearsal periods. It should be noted, however, that much of the learning during an Ethno camp also takes place during rehearsals led by the artistic leaders, whose title and status during a camp resemble typical music teaching and learning settings led by qualified or credentialed experts. Given the implementation of Ethnofonik, a de facto training institute for artistic leaders, the claims to being "non-formal" are open to question.

Much is also made of the intercultural aspects of Ethno camps in the official discourse of Ethno-World. Here too, it is undeniable that, due to the composition of camp attendees, Ethno camps are, by their nature, "intercultural." Although camps are conducted in English, which functions as the lingua franca, language diversity is a prominent feature of Ethno camps. Ethnographies conducted by the Ethno Research team in 2019 corroborate the claim that the intercultural aspects of Ethno are highly valued by many participants. It should be noted, however, that, while participant profiles vary from camp to camp, the majority of camps are held in Europe and the majority of attendees are European. The recent support for "Mobility Grants" would appear to recognize the underrepresentation of participants from certain parts of the globe, especially those from the Global South.

Despite the term "traditional music" being undefined, Ethno-World continues to emphasize it in their public-facing discourse. Traditional (or folk) music is generally understood by organizers, artistic leaders, and attendees as music that has cultural significance to a country or a group of people within a given country, thus setting it apart from (1) classical or art musics, which are (problematically) predicated on an aesthetics of timelessness and universality, and from (2) popular musics, which are (equally problematically) predicated on the market rationality of mass culture. "Folk music" at Ethno-World camps is also characterized by its "aural," non-notationbased nature. Folk music is thus music that can be (and is) learned by ear within a relatively short period of time. The range of music qualifying as "traditional" today appears to be much broader than at the original 1990 Ethno camp associated with the Falun Folk Music Festival, which, judging from the YouTube feature on the camp, was decidedly narrower in its repertoire and more "traditional" in its concert presentation. By contrast, today's camps emphasize highly arranged versions of the basic folk tune material, the end result of which resembles, in final concert presentations, the kind of transglobal roots fusion aesthetic common to many "world music" groups.

#### **IMPACT**

The extant research on and about Ethno-World camps suggests a strong sense of affinity within an Ethno subculture. Attendees are typically effusive in their praise for the Ethno experience, something backed up by the number of participants who attend more than once. It is not uncommon for some people to attend multiple Ethno camps. A few "die hard" fans appear to plan their year around Ethno camps, "hopping" from one Ethno to another. The passion expressed by the Ethno community is sustained on social media, the most notable example being the Facebook Ethnopia group, which currently has over 600 members. Given that many organizers are volunteers or paid minimally (an assumption made based on the low cost for attendance), it is likely that organizers are motivated more by altruism and personal satisfaction than monetary incentives, something that speaks highly of the positive nature of Ethno camps generally. Artistic leaders are the one constituency potentially motivated transactionally, insofar as they function as paid staff, and, depending on personal circumstances and ambitions, may stand to benefit professionally from working at Ethno camps. That there is apparently high demand to work as an Ethno artistic leader, however, reflects positively on the nature of the employment and working conditions.

Surprisingly little is known about localized and diasporic subcultural activity in relation to Ethno-World camps. While there are apparently efforts by some Ethno camps to interface with local communities, as the white paper authors witnessed at Ethno France 2020, existing knowledge operates only at the anecdotal level. Similarly, while there are anecdotal reports of how Ethno attendees have leveraged their Ethno experiences in service of cultural activities in their own localities, little evidence—scholarly or trade—was discovered in the writing of this report. It would be interesting to investigate, for example, the wider impact of the purported pedagogy (non-formal education) enacted at Ethno camps.

Despite the apparent popularity of Ethno-World camps, they are not, from what can be discerned, well-known in the wider world of ethnomusicology or much of the folk, traditional or world music scenes. Ethno camps have been studied or included as part of a broader study in a handful of theses and dissertations, but the writers of this report could find no peer-reviewed scholarship explicitly about Ethno-World camps, and Ethno-World does not appear to factor significantly amongst the curriculum and instructional practices at institutions specializing in folk, traditional and/or world musics. This may reflect the contrarian stance of Ethno camps themselves, which pride themselves on "non-formal" education and their embrace of "Ethno pedagogy," an approach that claims to exist in opposition to formalized pedagogical practices. In terms of the folk, traditional and world music scenes, it is possible that the impact of Ethno-World is just beginning

to be noticed, thanks to efforts such as "Ethno on the Road" and the Världens Band, an ensemble made up primarily of Ethno-World alumni. It is notable, however, that very few "experts" in these music scenes are seemingly aware of Ethno-World.

#### **EVALUATION**

To the extent that Ethno-World has continued to expand the number of Ethno camps around the globe (up until the COVID-19 pandemic), available evidence to date suggests Ethno camps are built on a successful formula that leaves most attendees satisfied and seeking additional Ethno experiences. Although ethnographies conducted by the Ethno Research team in 2019 did identify a few attendees who expressed frustrations and negative experiences, these pale in comparison with the effusive praise expressed by the overwhelming majority, many of whom describe their Ethno experience as life-changing. Research observations at Ethno France 2020 corroborate a general sentiment that Ethno camps embody a shared utopian commitment on the part of organizers, attendees, and artistic leaders to a more compassionate, empathetic, humane world.

#### Intercultural Exchange

Part of the allure of Ethno camps would appear to be their sense of suspended reality, something catalyzed by the common age range of participants. Videos and images of Ethno camps give the impression of "emerging adults" who are mostly single, physically healthy, and full of energy, vitality, and optimism. Research observations and anecdotal reports suggest that many camps feature a party atmosphere where attendees are keen to test their mental and physical stamina through their socializing.

When viewed as a "liminal" period or as a "limit experience," the risk-taking aspects of Ethno attendance can be seen as part of personal and, in some cases, professional development. At the same time, there is some evidence to suggest a few attendees may be drawn into the suspension of reality as a way of avoiding it. The Ethno Research team heard reports of attendees who "Ethno hop" as a way of rent avoidance, for example (as the cost of camp attendance provides relatively inexpensive food and board compared to that of many countries). There are also anecdotal reports of some attendees largely oblivious to the realities of adult life (e.g., participants who have no idea how much rent costs or how much income one would need for basic subsistence).

Ethno-World certainly cannot be held responsible for ensuring people are not attending Ethnos as a way of avoiding the realities of adult life. At the same time, organizational claims to intercultural dialogue and understanding seem exaggerated. While there are reports that a small minority of Ethno camps attempt explicit dialogue on issues

beyond music, it would appear that in most cases the purported intercultural aspects are simply presumed on the basis of camp attendance. That songs are sung in Portuguese or Arabic, for example, would seem to be taken as sufficient for claiming intercultural experiences. While it might be unrealistic to expect Ethno-World camps to tackle the challenge of epistemological difference, it is highly problematic to proclaim intercultural understanding on the basis of music-making alone. Difficult topics, such as race, gender, class, sexuality, or disability inequalities, issues of consent, or even relatively simple topics, such as the comparative realities of living in countries outside the European Union, if they are discussed at all, occur informally between small groups of people, not as part of a common camp experience.

The European tradition of "intercultural competence" as a basic problem of knowledge in relation to the norm of European experience ("Global Westerners, local others") would appear to provide the basis for Ethno-World's conception of intercultural dialogue and understanding. The Ethno Research team observed and heard reports of clear differences between the experiences of those from the Global North, where, generally speaking, attendees were seeking "intercultural experiences," and those from the Global South, where, generally speaking, attendees were seeking networking opportunities that might open doors to professional advancement. Although some camps (e.g., Ethno New Zealand) are apparently confronting difficult questions of colonialism, this appears to be the exception rather than the rule. As a result, it could be argued that, despite altruistic aims and the undeniably positive sentiments expressed by the majority of attendees, Ethno-World camps in fact participate in a form of European cultural colonialism.

#### **Non-formal Learning**

Peer-to-peer learning is touted by Ethno-World as central to the Ethno camp experience. To the extent attendees share musical selections with their peers during the first days of a camp, typically in a phrase-by-phrase, repeat-after-me fashion, peer-to-peer learning in a non-formal setting (i.e., outside traditional music teaching institutions) can be said to occur. Given that the majority of time at an Ethno camp is spent in rehearsals led by artistic leaders, however, claims to peer-to-peer learning appear exaggerated. While there is, in principle, much to be lauded about peer learning (and peer learning in music), it is in no way unique to Ethno camps. Moreover, no evidence has been uncovered that Ethno-World (and Ethnofonik) operate on the basis of any theoretical commitments or research evidence base. Although it undoubtedly reflects a sincere anti-institutional stance toward the hierarchical teacher-student relationship endemic to conservatory-based instruction, "peer-to-peer" appears to be more of a convenient slogan or catch-phrase than an informed approach to the problems of teaching and learning.

Claims to being "non-formal" are presumably based on Ethno camps operating outside the "formal" paradigm of music teaching and learning. While there is no doubt some flexibility and adaptation within a given Ethno camp, there are anecdotal reports and consistent indicators that, as part of its branding and institutional efforts, Ethno-World has codified and standardized many aspects of Ethno camps. Similar to other music camps, there is a clear plan and structure to Ethno camps; they are not spontaneous and emergent. Moreover, despite the short period of initial peer sharing of musical material, the lion's share of a camp resembles the familiar structure of rehearsals (and performance) led by a "leader." That Ethno hires people known as "artistic leaders" underscores the bald fact of traditional teacher-student hierarchies, even if these hierarchies are more muted and framed by an environment of mutual respect and support.

By many measures, Ethno camps provide a wonderful music learning experience for attendees. What is problematic is not necessarily what is enacted, but the claims and assumptions made in the name of Ethno camp learning. Artistic leaders appear to be highly competent musicians, hired on the basis of their reputation for successful music facilitation. At the same time, there is little evidence that Ethno-World, Ethnofonik, or artistic leaders operate on the basis of much beyond their own experience. By most definitions, this would qualify efforts as "non-professional" (where professions are defined as operating according to evidence and theory). That there are sentiments expressed amongst the Ethno subculture that they have invented or discovered some new way of teaching and learning ("Ethno pedagogy") points to a potentially disturbing naiveté about all that is currently known about music teaching, learning, and facilitation. As much as one might admire the positive experiences of attendees and the antiestablishment values motivating the subculture, a more informed stance might help Ethno-World better frame and restrict its claims about music learning and teaching.

#### **Traditional Music**

Arguably, one of the most ambiguous aspects of Ethno-World camps relates to the expectation for attendees to bring to camp a "traditional music" selection that represents their home country or region. On the surface of this expectation lie a host of potentially problematic issues of cultural identity as national identity. For example, the Ethno-World model is striking in that the participants themselves are taken as informants or even de facto culture-bearers for musical traditions whose boundaries align with national borders—their inalienable authority guaranteed simply by fact of their national or regional origin.

The approach Ethno-World takes to traditional music would seem, on the surface, to align with an older, pre-globalization conception of the musical landscape as composed of discrete, bounded, "authentic" traditions. Ethno-World takes this model not as an underlying premise for ethnographic study, but rather as a launching point for intercultural musical exchange where musicians represent their own national heritage through "traditional music." Through mutual musical sharing, participants join their voices to the musical heritage of other locales. Heritage in this sense is equal parts raison d'être, conversation starter, and existential challenge as attendees— typically in their early to mid-twenties with comparably little life experience—wrestle with the problem of national representation through music. As one artistic leader at Ethno France 2020 put it, "It gets people asking the questions."

The claim that Ethno-World functions to "revive and keep alive global cultural heritage" is seemingly predicated upon a revivalist perspective that assumes cultural authority and stylistic authenticity. This, however, does not appear to be a primary motivator for attendance. Some participants have, in fact, reported disassociating Ethno camps outright from other musical scenes specializing in the folk or traditional music of a country or region. Indeed, Ethno-World does not necessarily target or attract young musicians who specialize in the folk/traditional music of their country or region. Many Ethno participants appear to come from classical, jazz, or popular music backgrounds. They may be interested in learning music from other countries, but they are seemingly unconcerned with issues of authenticity. Citing the example of a polska, one artistic leader at Ethno France admitted that you won't learn about actual musical traditions at Ethno, "but you will get an insight or a window."

Although the first Ethno camp (Sweden, 1990) may have reflected a genuine desire to revive and keep alive "global cultural heritage" (consistent with claims on the JMI website), today's artistic leaders appear to be generalists rather than a cadre of specialists in individual musical genres or traditions. As a result, rehearsals (as observed by researchers to date) are focused on creating exciting musical arrangements—resulting in what is affectionately known as "the Ethno sound"—rather than teaching attendees specific stylistic nuances or performance practices. Ethno camps are less about heritage, stylistic fidelity, or even cultural identity than they are about a contemporary engagement with others seeking interesting performing and collaboration opportunities. To the extent Ethno-World has inspired alumni now working in the commodified folk, traditional, and world music scenes, it can be viewed as participating in cultural globalization and professionalization processes.

#### AREAS FOR FURTHER INVESTIGATION

In light of the conceptual framework and discussion presented in the full report, the following questions are forwarded as considerations for further research, organized according to various stakeholders.

#### **Camp Attendees**

- What are the discrete participant profiles of Ethno attendees in terms of self-reported motivations, sociodemographics, and musical backgrounds based on large-scale surveys?
- What are the motivations, backgrounds, and lived experiences of attendees from the Global South?
- What additional insights can be gleaned about Ethno attendees through large-scale data mining and fine-grained discourse analyses of Ethnopia and other social media related to Ethno?

Although some initial survey research has been conducted, "big data" is required to generate a more complete profile of Ethno attendees. A larger data set would help to shed additional light on the subpopulations that attend Ethno camps, allowing for greater elaboration on the potentially multifaceted nature of participant motives and their demographic statistics. This could provide data needed for strategic action.

Research to date suggests that attendees from the Global South may differ in important ways from those from the Global North. Claims to intercultural dialogue can be further problematized through sensitization to overshadowed voices.

Internet research is accessible and a potentially rich source of data and access to participants. Ethnopia, for example, with its 600+ members, is but one example of a social media site that could be mined and explored in order to generate participant perceptions and opinions, and further insights into participant profiles.

#### **Artistic Leaders**

- What are the discrete participant profiles of Ethno artistic leaders in terms of self-reported motivations, sociodemographics, and musical backgrounds based on large-scale surveys?
- What self-reported principles or beliefs guide or inform pedagogic action undertaken by artistic leaders? To what extent do they have familiarity with theory or practice outside Ethno contexts? (How do espoused values compare to enacted practices?)

- To what extent are artistic leaders aware of the degree to which they
  may be participating in the shaping of culture through music at local,
  regional, and global levels?
- To what extent do artistic leaders feel obligated to or responsible for introducing and/or facilitating discussions of cultural issues, and to what extent do they report doing so (and how)?

Although Ethno organizers arguably exert the greatest influence over the direction and impact of individual Ethno camps, artistic leaders influence the moment-to-moment Ethno experience of attendees through their *in situ* decision-making and artistic judgements. Not enough is understood about the profiles of artistic leaders (social and musical backgrounds, formal and informal training, etc.). Neither is there a developed understanding of the implicit and explicit operating principles that guide pedagogical action over the course of an Ethno camp. Given JMI/Ethno-World's stated aims and objectives in relation to reviving and preserving folk and traditional musics, it seems imperative to better understand how artistic leaders view such issues (e.g., how much fidelity to "authenticity" is deemed important and how tensions over authenticity are dealt with), and how they regard their role in the negotiation of cultural difference and interculturality, especially with respect to nationalism and colonialism.

#### **Organizers**

- What are the self-reported motives of Ethno camp organizers?
- In what ways do organizers conceptualize and enact their relationships and obligations to their local communities? To what extent do organizers make ethical and pragmatic decisions in response to local conditions and expectations?
- In what ways do organizers conceptualize and enact their obligations to attendees and artistic leaders? To what extent do considerations of race, gender, class, and geopolitical representation factor into decision-making?
- In what ways are local decision-making processes constrained or influenced by JMI and Ethno-World?

Despite the fact that they arguably have the greatest impact on all aspects of an Ethno camp experience, very little is known about the organizers of Ethno-World camps or the economic models of individual camps. Little is also known about the

relationships (which one Ethno organizer described in terms of a symbiotic system) between the organizers and the administrative apparatus of JMI and Ethno-World. While it appears there are efforts, through "organizer trainings," to create (or even impose) a degree of standardization upon camps in terms of such things as branding, structure, and the hiring of qualified artistic leaders, it would be interesting to better understand the degree of congruence between the espoused values of JMI/Ethno-World and the enacted values of the organizers.

#### JMI/Ethno-World

- In what ways do JMI and Ethno-World conceptualize and enact their obligations to organizers, artistic leaders, and attendees?
   To what extent do considerations of race, gender, class, and geopolitical representation factor into decision-making?
- To what extent do JMI and Ethno-World make ethical and pragmatic decisions in response to localized conditions and expectations?
   To what extent do JMI and Ethno-World expect local Ethnos to adhere to top-down guidelines and protocols?
- What are the guiding ethical, philosophical, and pragmatic principles that inform organizer trainings?
- What are the guiding ethical, philosophical, and pragmatic
  principles that inform Ethnofonik? To what extent does it attempt
  to be a research-informed or evidence-informed practice? To what
  extent do race, gender, class, and geopolitical representation factor
  into an awareness of the importance of access and inclusion in
  artistic leader training?
- To what extent do "unofficial" Ethnos challenge the identity and viability of Ethno-World?

It is possible that some administrative decision-making may need to be kept behind closed doors. Nevertheless, there is still much to be learned about the perspectives of the official organizations (the INGOs) on the history, current operation, and future plans for Ethno-World, especially in light of the development of artistic leader and organizer trainings. The views of JMI/Ethno-World toward what are known as "unofficial Ethnos," for example, could shed additional light on the complexities of INGOs operating in the cultural sphere.

#### **Beyond Ethno-World**

- In what ways and to what extent do Ethno-World events impact surrounding communities? How do camp organizers and Ethno-World document and describe these impacts?
   How do other stakeholders in the local community (organizations, individuals) describe these impacts?
- What indicators (metrics, measures) can be developed, beyond self-report, to assess the impact of Ethno on longer-term career and life choices of attendees, both musical and non-musical?
- In what ways and to what extent are participants actively engaged in traditional music?
- In what ways and to what extent do participants continue to embody the ideals of intercultural harmony espoused by Ethno-World even after "aging out" of the camps?
- In what ways and to what extent has Ethno-World impacted the European and worldwide folk/traditional musical ecosystem?
   What musical collaborations have grown out of Ethno experiences and how present are they on world and folk/traditional music stages?
- In what ways and to what extent are Ethno-World's approaches to pedagogy recognized, understood, or regarded by those beyond the Ethno ecosystem?

To date, most Ethno Research has focussed on camp attendees, generating a good deal of knowledge on their perceptions and opinions. Research on the stakeholders in the communities in which individual Ethno camps take place, however, could help shed additional light on local, regional, and global impact. Similarly, the extent to which Ethno has any impact on the wider folk or traditional music scene or the pedagogical world of folk and traditional musics is currently unknown.

#### References for the full report

Aman, Robert. 2018. Decolonising Intercultural Education: Colonial Differences, the Geopolitics of Knowledge, and Inter-Epistemic Dialogue. New York: Routledge.

Anderson, Benedict R. O'G. 1991. *Imagined Communities:* Reflections on the Origin and Spread of Nationalism.
Revised and extended ed. London; New York: Verso.

Appadurai, Arjun. 1990. "Disjuncture and Difference in the Global Cultural Economy." *Theory, Culture & Society* 7 (2-3):295-310.

Ballantyne, Julie, Roy Ballantyne, and Jan Packer. 2014. "Designing and Managing Music Festival Experiences to Enhance Attendees' Psychological and Social Benefits." *Musicae Scientiae* 18 (1):65–83. doi: 10.1177/1029864913511845.

Balosso-Bardin, Cassandre. 2018. "#NoBorders. Världens Band: Creating and Performing Music Across Borders." *The World of Music* 7 (1/2):81–106.

Bandura, Albert. 1997. Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control. Princeton, NJ: Macmillan.

Barth, Fredrik. 1969. Ethnic groups and Boundaries: The Social Organization of Culture Difference. Boston: Little, Brown.

Bauder, Harald. 2018. "Imagining a Borderless World." In *Borderless Worlds for Whom? Ethics, Moralities and Mobilities*, edited by Anssi Paasi, Eeva-Kaisa Prokkola, Jarkko Saarinen and Kaj Zimmerbauer, 37–48. London: Routledge.

Baumann, Max Peter. 2000. "The Local and the Global: Traditional Musical Instruments and Modernization." *The World of Music* 42 (3):121–144.

Birch, Catherine. 2020. Case Study: Ethno Denmark. Building Bridges and Making Connections. In *Ethno Research Pilot Case Studies*. York: York St John University.

Boli, John, and George M. Thomas. 1997. "World Culture in the World Polity: A Century of Non-Governmental Organization." American Sociological Review 62 (2):171–190.

Boud, David, Ruth Cohen, and Jane Sampson. 1999. "Peer Learning and Assessment." Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education 24 (4):413–426.

Bourdieu, Pierre. 1977. *Outline of a Theory of Practice*. Vol. 16. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Bourdieu, Pierre, and Randal Johnson. 1993. *The Field of Cultural Production: Essays on Art and Literature.* New York: Columbia University Press.

Bruffee, Kenneth A. 1999. *Collaborative Learning: Higher Education, Interdependence, and the Authority of Knowledge.* 2nd ed. Baltimore, MD: John Hopkins University Press.

Chua, Vincent, and Ern Ser Tan. 2012. "National Identity." In *The Wiley-Blackwell Encyclopedia of Globalization*, edited by George Ritzer, 1–2. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

Chun, Allen. 2012. "Ethnoscapes." In *The Wiley-Blackwell Encyclopedia of Globalization*, edited by George Ritzer, 1–2. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

Clifford, James. 1997. Routes: *Travel and Translation in the Late Twentieth Century.* Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

Clupper, Wendy Ann. 2007. "The Performance Culture of Burning Man." PhD diss., University of Maryland.

Coombs, Philip Hall, and Manzoor Ahmed. 1974. *Attacking Rural Poverty: How Nonformal Education Can Help.* Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.

Čorić, Ana. 2020. Case Study: Ethno Estonia. Bridging Borders Between Communities. In *Ethno Research Pilot Case Studies*. York: York St John University.

Crack, Angela M. 2013. "INGO Accountability Deficits: The Imperatives for Further Reform." *Globalizations* 10 (2):293–308.

Dabczynski, Andrew Hamilton. 1994. "Northern Week at Ashokan '91: Fiddle Tunes, Motivation and Community at a Fiddle and Dance Camp." PhD, University of Michigan.

Darrow, Alice-Ann, Pamela Gibbs, and Sarah Wedel. 2005. "Use of Classwide Peer Tutoring in the General Music Classroom." *Update: Applications of Research in Music Education* 24 (1):15–26. doi: 10.1177/87551233050240010103.

Dickson, Joshua. 2018. "The Changing Nature of Conceptualisation and Authenticity among Scottish Traditional Musicians: Traditional Music, Conservatoire Education and the Case for Post-Revivalism." In *Understanding Scotland Musically: Folk, Tradition and Policy*, edited by Simon McKerrell and Gary West, 81–92. London: Routledge.

Elliott, Michael A., and Vaughn Schmutz. 2012. "World Heritage." In *The Wiley-Blackwell Encyclopedia of Globalization*, edited by George Ritzer, 1–2. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

Ellström, Linus. 2016. "Ethno – Using Borders as Bridges." Master's Thesis, Lund University, Malmö Academy of Music.

Finnegan, Ruth. 2007. *The Hidden Musicians: Music-Making in an English Town*. Middletown, CT: Wesleyan University Press.

Folkestad, Göran. 2006. "Formal and Informal Learning Situations or Practices vs. Formal and Informal Ways of Learning." *British Journal of Music Education* 23 (2):135–145. doi: 10.1017/s0265051706006887.

Foucault, Michel. 2007. Security, Territory, Population: Lectures at the College de France, 1977–78. Basingstoke and New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Garrison, D Randy. 1997. "Self-Directed Learning: Toward a Comprehensive Model." Adult Education Quarterly 48 (1):18–33.

Gayraud, Elise. 2020. Case Study: Ethno Catalonia. In *Ethno Research Pilot Case Studies*. York: York St John University.

Gibson, Sarah-Jane. 2020. Case Study: Ethno Sweden. A Catalyst for Change. In *Ethno Research Pilot Case Studies*. York: York St John University.

Gilbert, Lisa. 2018. ""Not just Bow and String and Notes": Directors' Perspectives on Community Building as Pedagogy in Celtic Traditional Music Education Organizations." *International Journal of Music Education* 36 (4):588–600. doi: 10.1177/0255761418774938.

Giulianotti, Richard, and Roland Robertson. 2012. "Glocalization." In *The Wiley-Blackwell Encyclopedia of Globalization*, edited by George Ritzer, 1–4. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

Goodrich, Andrew. 2018. "Peer Mentoring and Peer Tutoring Among K–12 Students: A Literature Review." *Update: Applications of Research in Music Education* 36 (2):13–21. doi: 10.1177/8755123317708765.

Green, Lucy. 2002. How Popular Musicians Learn: A Way Ahead for Music Education. Burlington, VT: Ashgate.

Green, Lucy. 2008. Music, Informal Learning and the School: A New Classroom Pedagogy. Aldershot: Ashgate.

Hargreaves, Tatiana. 2017. ""That One Time at Fiddle Camp...": The Emergence of the Fiddle Camp Phenomenon and its Influence on Contemporary American Fiddle Music." Senior Undergraduate Thesis (Division III), Hampshire College.

Held, David, Anthony McGrew, David Goldblatt, and Jonathan Perraton. 1999. *Global Transformations: Politics, Economics & Culture*. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Higgins, Lee. 2020. Case Study: Ethno Portugal. Crossing the Threshold. In *Ethno Research Pilot Case Studies*. York: York St John University.

Hill, Juniper. 2009. "The Influence of Conservatory Folk Music Programmes: The Sibelius Academy in Comparative Context." *Ethnomusicology Forum* 18 (2):207–241.

Hill, Juniper, and Caroline Bithell. 2014. "An Introduction to Music Revival as Concept, Cultural Process, and Medium of Change." In *The Oxford Handbook of Music Revival*, edited by Juniper Hill and Caroline Bithell, 3–42. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Hobsbawm, E. J., and T. O. Ranger. 1983. *The Invention of Tradition.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Kebede, Ashenafi. 1986. "Musical Innovation and Acculturation in African Music." In *Exploration in Ethnomusicology: Essays in Honor of David P. McAllester*, edited by David P. McAllester and Charlotte Johnson Frisbie. Detroit: Information Coordinators.

Kirshenblatt-Gimblett, Barbara. 1998. "Sounds of Sensibility." *Judaism* 47:49–79.

Lebler, Don. 2008. "Popular Music Pedagogy: Peer Learning in Practice." *Music Education Research* 10 (2):193–213. doi: 10.1080/14613800802079056.

Lechner, Frank. 2012. "World Culture." In *The Wiley-Blackwell Encyclopedia of Globalization*, edited by George Ritzer, 1–6. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

Livingston, Tamara. 2014. "An Expanded Theory for Revivals as Cosmopolitan Participatory Music Making." In *The Oxford Handbook of Music Revival*, edited by Caroline Bithell and Juniper Hill, 60–70. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Livingston, Tamara E. 1999. "Music Revivals: Towards a General Theory." Ethnomusicology 43 (1):66–85.

Luce, David. 2001. "Collaborative Learning in Music Education: A Review of the Literature." *Update: Applications of Research in Music Education* 19 (2):20–25.

Mak, Peter. 2006. "Learning Music in Formal, Non-Formal and Informal Contexts." Hanzehogeschool Groningen. https://research.hanze.nl/ws/files/12409231/mak14\_1\_.pdf

Marsick, Victoria J., and Karen E. Watkins. 1990. *Informal and Incidental Learning in the Workplace*. London and New York: Routledge.

Miller, Josephine L. 2007. "The Learning and Teaching of Traditional Music." In Scottish Life and Society: A Compendium of Scottish Ethnology. Volume 10: Oral Literature and Performance Culture, edited by John Beech, Owen Hand, Fiona MacDonald, Mark A. Mulhern and Jeremy Weston. Edinburgh: John Donald.

Miller, Josephine L. 2018. "A sense of who we are": The Cultural Value of Community-Based Traditional Music in Scotland." In *Understanding Scotland Musically: Folk, Tradition and Policy*, edited by Simon McKerrell and Gary West. London: Routledge.

Mohr, Kelci Lyn. 2017. "Dancing through Transformational Music Festivals: Playing with Leisure and Art." Master's thesis, University of Alberta.

Nielsen, Siw G., Guro G. Johansen, and Harald Jørgensen. 2018. "Peer Learning in Instrumental Practicing." *Frontiers in Psychology* 9 (339). doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00339.

Ömae, Ken'ichi. 1990. The Borderless World: Power and Strategy in the Interlinked Economy. New York: Harper Business.

Packer, Jan, and Julie Ballantyne. 2011. "The impact of Music Festival Attendance on Young People's Psychological and Social Well-Being." *Psychology of Music* 39 (2):164–181.

Reddy, R. S. . 2003. Recent Trends in Non-Formal Education: Some Forays. New Delhi: Rajat Publications.

Renshaw, Peter. 2013. "Collaborative Learning: A Catalyst for Organizational Development in Higher Music Education." In Collaborative Learning in Higher Music Education, edited by Helena Gaunt and Heidi Westerlund, 237–246. Farnham, Surrey and Burlington, VT: Ashgate.

Risk, Laura. 2013. "The Chop: The Diffusion of an Instrumental Technique across North Atlantic Fiddling Traditions." Ethnomusicology 57 (3):428–454. Robertson, Roland. 1992. *Globalization*: Social Theory and Global Culture. London and Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.

Ronström, Owe. 2010. "Revival Reconsidered." *The World of Music* 52 (1):314–329.

Ronström, Owe, Krister Malm, and Dan Lundberg. 2001. "Concerts and Festivals: Public Performances of Folk Music in Sweden." The World of Music 43 (2/3):49–64.

Roosioja, Lisandra. 2018. "An Ethnographic Exporation of the Phenomenon Behind the International Success of Ethno." Master's Thesis, Estonian Academy of Music and Theatre.

Santino, Jack. 2011. "The Carnivalesque and the Ritualesque." Journal of American Folklore 124 (491):61–73. doi: 10.5406/jamerfolk.124.491.0061.

Schippers, Huib. 2010. Facing the Music: Shaping Music Education from a Global Perspective. Oxford and New York: Oxford University Press.

Schmidt, Bryan. 2015. "Boutiquing at the Raindance Campout: Relational Aesthetics as Festival Technology." *Dancecult* 7 (1): 35–54. doi: 10.12801/1947-5403.2015.07.01.02.

Scruggs, Bernadette. 2008. "Learning Outcomes in Two Divergent Middle School String Orchestra Classroom Environments: A Comparison of a Learner-Centered and a Teacher-Centered Approach." PhD dissertation, Georgia State University.

Slobin, Mark. 1993. Subcultural Sounds: Micromusics of the West. Hanover, NH: Wesleyan University Press.

Slobin, Mark. 2003. Fiddler on the Move: Exploring the Klezmer World. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Solis, Ted. 2004. Performing Ethnomusicology: Teaching and Representation In World Music Ensembles. Berkeley and Palo Alto: University of California Press.

Sorcinelli, Mary Deane, and Jung Yun. 2007. "From Mentor to Mentoring Networks: Mentoring in the New Academy." *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning* 39 (6):58–61.

Steger, Manfred B. 2012. "Social Imaginaries." In *The Wiley-Blackwell Encyclopedia of Globalization*, edited by George Ritzer, 1–2. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

Sweeney, Philip. 1991. *The Virgin Directory of World Music.* London: Virgin Publishing.

Sweers, Britta. 2014. "Toward an Application of Globalization Paradigms to Modern Folk Music Revivals." In *The Oxford Handbook of Music Revival*, 466. Oxford University Press, USA.

Taylor, Timothy Dean. 1997. *Global Pop: World Music, World Markets*. New York: Routledge.

Taylor, Timothy Dean. 2014. "Fields, Genres, Brands." *Culture, Theory and Critique* 55 (2):159–174.

Tomlinson, John. 2012. "Cultural Globalization." In *The Wiley-Blackwell Encyclopedia of Globalization*, edited by George Ritzer, 1–8. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

Turino, Thomas. 2008. *Music as Social Life: The Politics of Participation*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Turner, Victor. 1974. "Liminal to Liminoid in Play, Flow and Ritual: An Essay in Comparative Symbology." *Rice Institute Pamphlet – Rice University Studies* 60 (3):53–92.

Van Gennep, Arnold. 1960/1909. *The Rites of Passage*. Translated by Monika B. Vizedom and Gabrielle L. Caffee. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.

Waldron, Janice. 2009. "Teacher and Student Perceptions of Music Teaching and Learning at the Goderich Celtic College, Goderich, Ontario, Canada." *Bulletin of the Council for Research in Music Education* 182 (182):51–64.

Weintraub, Andrew N., and Bell Yung, eds. 2009. *Music and Cultural Rights*. Chicago: University of Illinois Press.

Weisethaunet, Hans, and Ulf Lindberg. 2010. "Authenticity Revisited: The Rock Critic and the Changing Real." Popular Music and Society 33 (4):465–485.

Westerlund, Heidi, Heidi Partti, and Sidsel Karlsen. 2015. "Teaching as Improvisational Experience: Student Music Teachers' Reflections on Learning During an Intercultural Project." Research Studies in Music Education 37 (1):55–75. doi: 10.1177/1321103X15590698.



www.ethnoresearch.org